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1.1. Chair of the Board of Trustees 

2020 was a year of change for CIArb. In 
May, we said farewell to Anthony Abrahams 
MCIArb who retired after eight years as 
Director General. I thank him for all his 
efforts in taking CIArb forward under his 
leadership. We also welcomed Catherine 
Dixon as our new Director General. We 
said farewell to retiring trustees, welcomed 
new trustees and held our first ever Virtual 
Congress.

The year was dominated globally by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In March, we closed 
12 Bloomsbury Square and our staff worked 
remotely for the rest of the year. All CIArb 
activity moved online as we quickly became 
a fully functioning digital organisation.

For me, the 2020 highlights include:

•	The expansion of Congress from a		
	 Branch Chairs’ event to a global 		
	 conference, held over two days. 		
	 From the Congress, I was delighted to 	
	 see the election of Jane Gunn and John 	
	 Bassie as future Presidents of CIArb. 

•	Our most well-attended AGM – held for 	
	 the first time in a virtual environment. 

•	Cherie Booth CBE QC MCIArb and 		
	 Professor Richard Susskind OBE’s 		
	 thought-provoking lectures. 

•	The development of our 2021 – 2023 	
	 Strategy.

•	Francis Xavier SC PBM C.Arb FCIArb, 	
	 whose Presidential plan was thrown 		
	 into disarray by the pandemic but whose 	
	 enthusiasm and energy, whatever the 	
	 time of day, was a true inspiration. 
 
Behind the scenes, our Governance Review 
continued with the Trustees agreeing 
proposed changes to the Royal Charter. 
These proposed amendments will be 
going to consultation with members and 
then to an EGM in 2021. The review aims 
to provide CIArb with a more responsive 
and agile governance framework in line 
with the demands of the 21st century and 
best practice for a charitable membership 
organisation registered in England and Wales. 
I do hope that you will participate in the 
consultation and support the proposals 
when they are formally presented to you.

We have amended the format of this year’s 
Annual Report to focus on the impact that 
CIArb has globally, and the benefit it brings 
to our members and the public at large. 
None of the achievements of CIArb in 2020 
would be possible without the hard work of 
all of you who graciously and willingly donate 
your time and expertise either though the 
Branches or the Standing Committees. It 
has been an honour to chair the Board of 
Trustees in 2020 and, on their behalf, I thank 
you all.

Introductions1.

Jonathan Wood FCIArb
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1.2. President’s Report 

When embarking on my tenure as CIArb 
President in January last year, I could not 
have imagined that 2020 would develop 
quite as it did. As the COVID-19 pandemic 
spread across the world and lockdowns 
were imposed across every continent, 
plans changed, operations recalibrated, and 
our profession was called upon to show 
immense resilience and adaptability. This has 
been a difficult and incredibly challenging 
year ; however, it has also shown CIArb at 
its best, and I am proud to have served as 
President at a time when the Institute was 
really tested – and showed that it could 
deliver.

In my welcome address, I identified the main 
areas of change which I anticipated – from 
internal changes with our incoming Director-
General (who at that point had yet to be 
identified), to the external opportunities 
presented by the growth in demand for ADR 
by business and the increasing emphasis on 
mediation (as epitomised by the Singapore 
Mediation Convention). I also made clear my 
belief that CIArb was in a strong position 
to make the most of these opportunities 
through our high-quality thought leadership 
and deep professional expertise. These 
qualities were on display in abundance in 
2020. At the very start of the pandemic, 
we rapidly pivoted to online provision of 
our courses and events, ensuring that we 
could continue to deliver world-class training 
and accreditation. We were one of the 
first organisations to provide clear, practical 
guidance on adapting to the pandemic 
through our Remote Proceedings Guidance 
Note. And under our new Director-General 

Catherine Dixon and Deputy Director-
General Tom Cadman, we have charted an 
exciting new course for CIArb that will allow 
us to grow and thrive.

For my own part, it has been a privilege 
to play a direct and active role on specific 
thought leadership projects on behalf of 
CIArb. In particular, I was pleased to work 
in partnership with the Judicial Insolvency 
Network (JIN) to explore how arbitration 
can play a greater role in the resolution of 
insolvency matters. I also participated in the 
formation of a Blockchain/Smart Contracts 
Working Group (under the stewardship 
of our Director of Education, Training and 
Innovation, Dr Paresh Kathrani).

In spite of a challenging year, CIArb delivered 
fantastic results. Our membership increased 
from 15,589 at the start of 2020 to 16,530 
heading into 2021. This is a real testament 
to the efforts of the whole CIArb team. 
Our courses have generated an increase in 
revenue because of the success with which 
they could transition online, and we have 
had record attendance at our events, from 
the Roebuck Lecture with Cherie Blair CBE 
QC MCIArb in June to the DAS Convention 
in November. In partnership with the UK 
All-Party Parliamentary Group for ADR, 
we launched their Report on the UK and 
Singapore as Global Disputes Hubs, an 
initiative led by Assistant Director for Policy 
and External Affairs Lewis Johnston. 

I have no doubt that we will continue to 
build and improve on these successes under 
my successor Ann Ryan Robertson in 2021.

Francis Xavier SC PBM C.Arb FCIArb
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It was an honour and privilege to be 
appointed as CIArb’s Director General 
in May 2020. As we all know, 2020 was 
unprecedented. The global COVID-19 
pandemic meant that it was anything but 
business as usual. I was proud to see how 
CIArb adapted to change, and to experience 
the ongoing support of CIArb’s members, 
volunteers and staff.

Despite the pandemic, we continued to 
grow our membership around the world, 
expanding to 16,530 professional members 
from a base of 15,589 at start of the year.
We also grew our student membership to 
8,204.

We quickly adapted and continued to deliver 
education and training virtually via a new 
online learning platform. In addition, our 
Online Introduction to ADR 2021 course 

resulted in a significant number of new 
associates joining the organisation.

With change comes opportunity. We 
delivered a series of lectures, seminars and 
events, which would traditionally have been 
held face-to-face, to a significantly increased 
global audience via a virtual platform. These 
included the Roebuck Lecture delivered by 
Cherie Blair CBE QC MCIArb, the Alexander 
Lecture delivered by Professor Richard 
Susskind OBE, a mediation symposium, DAS 
convention, and Virtual Congress to name 
but a few. In addition, we delivered a series 
of policy podcasts with notable speakers.

Our social media presence continued to 
grow, with with almost 40,000 followers 
on LinkedIn. 

1.3. Director General

Despite the pandemic, we continued to grow 
our membership around the world, expanding to  

16,530 professional members from a base of 15,589 
at start of the year, a net growth of 941, including  

2,505 new professional members. 
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As the secretariat for the APPG (All Party 
Parliamentary Group for Alternative Dispute 
Resolution), we successfully launched a 
report entitled ‘Securing the UK’s position 
as a global dispute hub: best practice 
lessons between Singapore and the UK,’ 
which included contributions from the High 
Commissioner of Singapore and The Chief 
Justice of Singapore.

Our commitment to our people secured 
us the prestigious accreditation, Investors 
in People. We remained committed 
to supporting our people through the 
pandemic and as they continued to work 
from home, offering training and support 
whenever we could.

CIArb was recognised by Global Arbitration 
Review (GAR), winning the GAR Award 
for the CIArb Guideline on Witness 
Conferencing (prepared by a subcommittee 
of the Singapore Branch) and the Best 
Lecture Award for the Roebuck Lecture 
on England’s long history of support for 
arbitration given by Stavros Brekoulakis 

ACIArb. 
Working closely with CIArb’s Board of 
Trustees, Board of Management, branches, 
members and staff, we developed an exciting 
new corporate strategy to take CIArb 
forward into the next three years.

I take this opportunity to thank our boards, 
committees, branches and members for 
the incredible commitment and support 
they generously gave to CIArb, and to 
thank CIArb’s staff for their hard work and 
tenacity during such a challenging year and 
for welcoming me as their new Director 
General. 

The future is exciting and I am looking 
forward to continuing to work with all those 
connected to CIArb to deliver CIArb’s 
strategy over the course of the next year 
and beyond. 

Catherine Dixon, Director General
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Role of CIArb2.

We are committed to promoting alternative 
dispute resolution (ADR) and the benefit it 
brings to society and economies across the 
world.

Our ambition is to be recognised as the 
global and trusted thought leader on ADR 
and we are committed to working with 
our 41 branches and members in over 150 
jurisdictions around the world to provide 
them with world-class services, training and 

development thereby ensuring that we raise 
professional standards and embed ethical 
rules into ADR practice.

Our vision is a world where disputes are 
resolved promptly, effectively, and creatively. 

We believe that by delivering our strategic 
aims we will move us closer towards 
achieving our vision and demonstrate 
commitment to our mission, which is: 

To be the inclusive global thought leader on 
dispute resolution, promoting and facilitating the 
creative and effective resolution of disputes, 
supporting diversity and inclusion, and ensuring 
practitioners are highly trained and comply with 
professional standards and ethical rules.
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Antony NganTsz Man MCIArb
Quantity Surveying Consultant in the  

Hong Kong construction industry

My CIArb membership has been recognised 
by both my company and business partners. 

The online resources from CIArb enable 
me to better equip myself with ADR 

related knowledge and skills to improve my 
confidence to deal with various situations 

about the disputes management. While I also 
benefited from the association’s extensive 

network across Asia and Australasia.
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In 2020, working closely with our members, 
branches, boards and staff, we developed 
a revised strategy for the next three years 
commencing in 2021.

CIArb’s strategic aims are to:

1: Globally promote the constructive 
resolution of disputes. 

In summary we will: 

•	Promote the benefits of constructively 	
	 resolving disputes and the value this brings 	
	 to society and to the economy; 

•	Differentiate CIArb members’ expertise 	
	 resulting from their CIArb training and 	
	 compliance with professional standards 	
	 and ethical rules; 

•	Train non-members to understand 		
	 the 	benefits of using effective dispute 	
	 resolution, encouraging them to use such 	
	 methods to resolve disputes at work; 

•	Work collaboratively, partnering 		
	 to promote all forms of effective dispute 	
	 resolution across the globe. 

2: Be a global, inclusive thought leader.

In summary we will:

•	Influence those with a key role in shaping 	
	 dispute resolution across the world by 	
	 being recognised as the thought leader 	

	 on all forms of effective dispute resolution 	
	 and as the home for all dispute resolution 	
	 professionals, irrespective of discipline; 

•	Reinforce the rule of law and access 		
	 to justice by raising global awareness and 	
	 support any projects which use all forms 	
	 of effective dispute resolution; 

•	Enable greater access to all forms of 		
	 effective dispute resolution through the 	
	 use of innovation and technology; 

•	Identify, through horizon scanning, trends 	
	 affecting all forms of effective dispute 	
	 resolution; 

•	Raise professional standards by 		
	 continuously developing guidance and 	
	 rules. 

3: Develop and support an inclusive 
global community of diverse dispute 
resolvers. 

In summary we will:

•	Support our members’ career progression 	
	 by providing accessible, relevant, and high-	
	 quality training and development, enabling 	
	 them to innovate, differentiate, and 		
	 compete in changing markets; 

•	Grow our membership by targeting the 	
	 provision of information, products, and 	
	 services; 

Strategy3.
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•	Respond to the diverse and individual 	
	 needs of our members by building our 	
	 understanding of their roles, career stage, 	
	 priorities, and specialisms; 

•	Support our branches to grow, network, 	
	 develop expertise, and share information 	
	 through active communication and 		
	 engagement; 

•	Highlight the significant contribution of 	
	 CIArb members; 

•	Encourage and support equality, diversity, 	
	 and inclusion, enabling the best candidates 	
	 to join CIArb and the dispute resolution 	
	 progression route/process regardless of 	
	 their background. 
 
 
 
 
CIArb responded rapidly to the COVID-19 
pandemic moving to a new virtual classroom 
and online assessment solution after 
lockdown in March 2020. 

By the end of December 2020, 3,372 
people had undertaken online training. A 
campaign was launched to discount the 
Online Introduction to ADR, leading to 
Associate Membership for student members 
and non-students, and 2,369 have taken this 
programme and assessment. 

The Diploma in International Commercial 
Arbitration, which is traditionally run in 
Oxford, was successfully converted into 
a virtual format and the new Diploma in 
International Maritime Arbitration also 
started virtually in September.  

Partnership work continued, with more than 
400 people trained at the Saudi Centre for 
Commercial Arbitration. A leading education 
provider, BARBRI, agreed to enter a training 
partnership with CIArb and Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) work was done 
with the Equal Representation in Arbitration 
Pledge (ERA) to jointly provide subsidised 
training for young female arbitrators and 
Cherie Blair’s organisation, Omnia Strategy, 
to jointly provide state advocate training. 

We held several successful online webinars, 
including the Roebuck Lecture delivered 
by Cherie Blair CBE QC MCIArb, where 
approximately 1,800 people subscribed, 
the Alexander Lecture delivered by 
Professor Richard Susskind OBE had 
2,222 registrations and the ‘Meet the 
Leaders’ event had the global participation 
of 671 attendees. The DAS Convention, 
Mediation Symposium and the Virtual 
Congress Conference had more than 1,900 
registrations combined.

Our LinkedIn page follower numbers 
increased to almost 40,000 and this 
continues to grow. We also moved our 
publications to an online platform to enable 
easier access.

We have developed and delivered a series of 
successful policy podcasts and launched, on 
behalf of the APPG (All Party Parliamentary 
group for alternative dispute resolution), a 
report entitled “Securing the UK’s position 
as a global dispute hub: best practice lessons 
between Singapore and the UK”.

Summary of 20204.
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Identifying and developing (with our Young 
Members’ Group) a virtual ADR Student 
Experience Programme to give students/young 
people a chance to experience the sort of  
work an ADR practitioner does. 

We successfully attained the Investors in 
People accreditation which will enable us 
to build on best practice and develop our 
strategic approach to our people.

Taking a more consultative approach 
with Branches; we have improved 
communications with the introduction of 
quarterly meetings with Branch Chairs on a 
regional basis.

Winning a GAR Award for the CIArb 
Guideline on Witness Conferencing 
(prepared by a subcommittee of the 
Singapore Branch) and for the Best Lecture 
for the 2019 Roebuck Lecture on England’s 
long history of support for arbitration by 
Stavros Brekoulakis ACIArb. 

Widening CIArb’s reach by speaking at 
various events including AIAC webinar 
on ethics, THAC webinar on women in 
arbitration, Australia/Malaysia Branch on 
conflicts and Sao Paulo Arbitration week on 
witness conferencing.

We have continued to successfully grow our 
members to 16,530 and student members 
to 8,204.

In March last year, we developed a new 
Guidance Note on Remote Proceedings 
to equip practitioners with the practical 
and professional advice they needed to 
quickly shift to a world in which in-person 
contact had become impossible. The praise it 
received from around the globe reflects the 
international expertise that went into it. 

CIArb were also a founding institution of 
the “Virtual Arbitrations” website initiative  
– an online hub showcasing best practice 
and technological adaptations in the arbitral 
community. And in the delivery of our own 
services, we quickly moved towards an 
online model. We are of course looking 
forward to the days when we can once again 
meet in person – travel across borders to 
attend international conferences, engage 
in the relaxed and informal networking 
that live engagements allow, and indeed 
just meet again with friends and colleagues. 
Nonetheless, necessity is the mother of 
invention, and we hope that many of the 
more positive lessons we’ve learned can 
continue to be applied long after the 
pandemic is over.
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5.1. Membership Engagement and Communications

Despite the extreme uncertainty of 2020 arising from the COVID-19 pandemic, CIArb 
membership performance was strong and continued to grow. We began the year with an 
active membership of 15,589 and ended the year with a total professional membership 
of 16,530 and student membership at 8,204. In total we admitted 2,505 new professional 
members and an additional 2,480 student members.

Annual Highlights 5.

CIArb is indeed a premier institution, constantly developing to cater to many 
aspects of Appropriate Dispute Resolution. It has over the years been innovative 
and forward thinking including for example the recent launch of the Joint Contracts 
Tribunal (JCT) and CIArb Dispute Adjudication Board Rules – showcasing the 
diversity of the ADR mechanism that the Institute promotes. Anil Changaroth FCIArb

2019 2020

15,589 16,530

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0

Professional membership

2019 2020

5,699
8,204

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0

Student membership New members 
in 2020

Student
Associate
Member
Fellow

2,480
1,466	
700
339

When I opened my own firm and began sitting as an arbitrator, I determined that 
CIArb’s highly regarded fellowship designation would be a great asset to continue 
developing my practice, relationships through a global network of colleagues, and goals 
to develop as an arbitrator. Ava Borrasso FCIArb
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68%
increase

21%
increase

LinkedIn Facebook

14%
increase

Twitter

2020: 37,855 vs 2019: 22,500 2020: 7,866 vs 2019: 6,483 2020: 7,976 vs 2019: 7,000

83%
increase

Instagram

185%
increase

Youtube (views)

2020: 1,281 vs 2019: 700 2020: 22,636 vs 2019: 12,235

Posts on social media: 1,251Total fans & followers: 56,124 

Engagements: 67,930

Ensuring we are relevant and engaging our valued members in the right way is of paramount 
importance to us, and so late 2020 saw us commission some in depth research with our 
members to ensure we shape our offer both in line with our organisational ambition, and 
more importantly, with what our members want. Digital marketing and engagement will play 
an increasingly important part of ensuring we are communicating in a relevant way with our 
members. In 2020 we have seen a significant uplift in interactions on our digital channels.

Social media

In 2020, we saw a significant increase in our social media followers and engagement across 
all our five platforms. We built a social media following of 56,124, which in turn, delivered a 
boost in traffic. We reduced online spending by securing a Google Grant.
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Email campaigns

Email is an important channel enabling us 
to communicate with members in timely 
way. We all receive a lot of emails, so the 
key to ensuring ours are read is to keep the 
content relevant and engaging. 

Our campaigns in 2020 continued to 
resonate with our members with improved 
open and click-through rates. Engagement 
has grown, whether for emails informing 
members about an upcoming event or our 
monthly e-newsletter, the eSolver. 

Website

We updated the content and layout of several pages to better reflect user behaviour and to 
make it easier for people to find the information they need, with particular emphasis on the 
Training and Membership pages. 

In 2020, the accounts created on the website increased by 40% (6,619 vs 4,741). The unique 
page views increased by 23% (1,871,623 vs 1,520,606) and the total page views increased 
by 91% (4,848,670 vs 2,537,208). Sessions from new visitors increased by 12% (290,125 vs 
258,275), while sessions from returning visitors increased by 38.54% (270,242 vs 195,063). 
The average time on a page decreased to 31 seconds (from 51 seconds), however, the 
bounce rate improved (4.02% vs 37.04%). 

Website sessions

2020: 560,367 vs 2019: 453,338

24%
increase

Accounts created

2020: 6,619 vs 2029: 4,741

40%
increase
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Events

Due to the global pandemic, we pivoted 
quickly to ensure we could continue to 
offer members and non-members industry-
leading events through online-only platforms. 
The central office team delivered virtual six 
annual flagship events for the first time. 

The nature of online events means that 
there are fewer limits to capacity, so we 
were able to give the global ADR community 
the chance to attend. As a result, we had 
over 7,500 registrants for our flagship
events in 2020.

Main events

Impacts of COVID-19 
on construction projects
The ‘Impacts of COVID-19 on construction 
projects’ was held online in May, jointly 
hosted by CIArb and its Corporate Member 
Accura Consulting. The online event was 
discussed between world-leading legal 
experts and Accura Consulting’s delay and 
quantum specialists. The event also covered 
the procedural processes and actions that 
need to be taken to seek recovery and 
looked at the common errors parties 
make in submitting claims and included 
presentations by CIArb colleagues. 

Roebuck Lecture
The 10th Roebuck Lecture ‘Getting ahead of 
the curve: How arbitration can better meet 
the needs of parties, people and planet’ was 
delivered online by Cherie Blair CBE QC 
MCIArb.

Mediation 2020 & Beyond
The ‘Mediation 2020 & Beyond’ flagship 
online event explored a range of key 
questions, including: “What opportunities 
does technology provide for mediation? 
What new skills will mediators require? 
What does a multidisciplinary approach to 
mediation give practitioners?”. 

Meet the CIArb Leaders
The ‘Meet the CIArb Leaders’ online event 
offered the unique opportunity for all CIArb 
members to hear from CIArb leaders and 
to put questions to them about CIArb’s role 
going forward and the effects of the 2020 
pandemic on the global ADR industry. 

The Virtual Congress Conference
The Virtual Congress Conference, held 
in November, included a variety of online 
workshops and discussion on equality, 

Over 7,500 
registrants
in 2020
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diversity and inclusion in ADR, the work of 
our Young Members’ Group (YMG) and a 
discussion on third-party funding, as well 
as other sessions relating to mediation and 
adjudication. 

Alexander Lecture
The 46th Alexander Lecture, entitled ‘The 
future of dispute resolution,’ was held online 
and delivered by the prestigious Professor 
Richard Susskind OBE. 

DAS Convention
The 8th Dispute Appointment Service 
(DAS) Convention 2020 took place in 
November and focused on the theme 
‘Handling disputes in an era of uncertainty’.

Mediation Symposium
The 13th Mediation Symposium took place 
in December and focussed on the theme of 
‘multidisciplinarity’. 

Looking  ahead

Our new corporate strategy is exciting and 
our members are integral to it. We will be 
working hard to deliver a clear ‘member-
first’ approach to our membership product 
and how we communicate and engage with 
members. Our digital-first approach will see 
us embrace new technologies and ensure 
that our content is industry-leading.  We 
have a number of new initiatives that we will 
be launching in 2021.

Very insightful and engaging presentation by Mr. Lim on arbitration and mediation 
and the information on the Singapore Convention and its Signing members and the 
Singapore International Dispute Resolution Academy (SIDRA)!!
(Mediation Symposium 2020)

A thorougly enjoyable 
convention (all sessions) this 

afternoon. I am impressed and 
pleased in equal measure at the 
direction in which the institute 
now appears to be heading. 

Onwards and upwards!
(DAS Convention)

What an exciting and dynamic lecture 
by Professor Susskind!! It was great to 
hear about the innovative ways AI and 
technology will help us approach business 
and alternative dispute resolution matters 
in the future. I am so excited to learn 
more!! (Alexander Lecture)
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Theominique D. Nottage MCIArb
ADR Practicioner in
The Bahamas

CIArb has helped to raise my professional 
profile locally and more recently internationally 
which in turn has benefited my career as an ADR  
practitioner. For instance, since being a MCIArb, I have 
been appointed as Vice-Chair of the ADR Committee 
of The Bahamas Bar Association, appointed a member of 
the ADR Committee of The Bahamas Chamber of Commerce, 
elected to a two-year term as one of three Young ICCA 
Co-Chairs, appointed as an Arbitration Consultant to the 
Government of The Bahamas and have either acted as a 
moderator or panellist in multiple webinars on ADR.
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5.2. Education

Highlights

We implemented full virtual training and 
online assessments within one month 
of lockdown in the United Kingdom in 
March 2020 to enable Headquarters and 
branches around the world to continue to 
deliver training. 382 people were trained at 
Headquarters in all courses apart from the 
Online Introduction to ADR in 2019, and in 
2020, the number was 861. By the end of 
2020, 44 branch courses had been delivered 
virtually.

We discounted our Online Introduction 
to ADR course leading to Associate 
Membership of the Institute (ACIArb) 
following lockdown. We also offered a special 
discounted rate for student members. By the 
end of 2020, 2,203 individuals had been on 
the course, compared to 511 in 2019

Many these individuals applied for Associate 
Membership in 2020. We began working on 
an Online Introduction to Mediation leading 
to Associate Membership in late 2020 and 
we will be exploring other courses in 2021.  

Several CIArb courses were also specially 
adapted for virtual delivery. The Diploma 
in International Commercial Arbitration 
directed by Professor Dr Mohamed Abdel 
Wahab MCIArb, which was due to take 
place at Christ Church, Oxford University, in 
September 2020, was successfully adapted 
from nine full days of face-to-face training 
to a four-week programme. Thirty four 
candidates registered for this programme 
and feedback was very positive. One 
candidate commented: 

Trainers came from arbitral institutions and 
organisations from across the world.  

The Diploma in International Maritime 
Arbitration, directed by George Lambrou 
FCIArb, which ran for the first time in 
September 2020 in partnership with 
Middlesex University Dubai with 16 
candidates, was similarly adapted for virtual 
delivery, garnering good feedback. 

Online Introduction to ADR course

2020: 2,203 vs 2019: 511

331%
increase

The sessions and lecturers were 
remarkable and the experience I 
had was fabulous. I was educated, 
equipped and encouraged by the 
programme. The world is unified 
by tech obviously. CIArb education 
is breaking through under your 
leadership and I am truly blessed.

(Diploma in International 
Commercial Arbitration)
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Module 1 on the Mediation Pathway _ 
the five-day, face-to-face programme was 
changed to a seven-week course with 
further role plays and exercises added: 
16 candidates participated in the pilot 
programme in August 2020. Given the 
success of the virtual programmes, an extra 
virtual Diploma in International Commercial 
Arbitration and extra virtual Module 1 in 
Mediation have been planned for early 2021.

After the success of the virtual Module 1 
in Mediation, and feedback from branch 
chairs in 2020 on the global demand for 
mediation, we ran a successful Train the 
Trainers programme on the virtual Module 
1 in Mediation for global faculty in October 
2020. Fifty eight participants from 18 
branches attended. Some have now applied 
to shadow on the virtual course in 2021. 
One participant commented: 

We look forward to supporting Branches 
to run the virtual mediation course.

The first CIArb’s audiobook, ‘Resolving 
Disputes Today’, was launched in early 
2020. We recruited a Professional Courses 
Curriculum Development Manager in 2020 
and the Department ended the year with 
three eModules, ‘Avoiding and Resolving 
Contractual Disputes’, ‘Brand Protection in 
Times of Dispute’ and ‘Arbitration Award 
Writing’. We are now working on further 
professional development courses. The focus 
in 2021 will be on professional development 
training for Fellows.

In June 2020, Jane Gunn FCIArb delivered 
a well-attended talk on ‘Mediation 2020 
and Beyond’ looking at mediation trends, 
particularly following the pandemic, which 
was followed by a question-and-answer 
session with the Director of Education and 
Training.

Last year’s Mediation Symposium in 
December was also changed for virtual 
delivery. The theme was on ‘mediation as 
a multidisciplinary practice’, and George 
Lim SC, Senior Counsel and Chairman of 
Singapore International Mediation Centre, 
delivered the keynote. Sub-themes included: 
the ‘evolving mediator’; the business of 
mediation; the mediator’s toolkit; redesigning 
the curriculum; the three non-mediators that 
a mediator must consult; and technology and 
mediation.

I would like to extend my 
congratulations for a huge success 
for today’s presentation training. 
Indeed, the training is innovative 
and will definitely expand CIArb’s 
footprints in training and educating 
prospective mediators in developing 
countries.
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We continued our Partnership work in 2020. 

More than 400 people were trained on 
the Pathway in International Arbitration in 
Arabic and in English at the Saudi Centre 
for Commercial Arbitration (SCCA). We 
entered into agreement with BARBRI to 
host a joint event focussing on careers 
in ADR at CIArb Congress. We agreed 
reciprocal discounts on courses a plan to 
develop new training initiatives. Working 
closely with Omnia Strategy, we delivered 
a pro-bono training course in January 2021 
for state advocates from around the world 
on arbitration strategy and entered into 
an agreement with the ERA Pledge, Young 
Practitioners Subcommittee, to provide 
training and promote equality, diversity and 

inclusivity in arbitration. We supported the 
Institute of Family Law Arbitrators (IFLA) 
and delivered in-house training to partners. 
We also held discussions with other partners 
such as the Law Society of Scotland and the 
College of Legal Practice. 

In 2021, we will build on the virtual training 
and online assessment introduced in 2020. It 
will work on a project to reform education 
and training provision by introducing a new 
competency code and learning and training 
methods that will enable flexible training 
and meet the needs of diverse learners, as 
well as continue to support branches and 
partners. New courses will be looked at, 
especially given the technological changes 
brought about by the pandemic. 

Just a quick email to say a big thank you for the day you spent teaching us yesterday. 
Your knowledge of arbitration is impressive, and your obvious dedication and 
commitment to supporting us through the course and beyond is really refreshing and 
reassuring. (Module 3, International Arbitration)

It is a tremendous 
opportunity to learn from,  

and train under thesupervision 
of such fantastic experts. 

Leonora, Wolf and Corrado 
have been simply outstanding. 
Overall, I think that this online 
formula works very well and is 
a lot a fun. (Virtual Module 1 

in Mediation)

I really wanted to put a 3 or 4 
somewhere but I have to admit 
the course truly scores 100%! If I 
could, I would have added a 10 for 
being excellent overall. The course 
fully addressed what I was looking 
for and as a bonus I got to meet 
some great people in the process!  
(Virtual Module 1 in Mediation)
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Clifford J. Hendel FCIArb
Fellow Arbitrator working  
in Madrid, New York, Paris, 
England and Wales

I currently practice independently (and 
exclusively as neutral) in commercial, construction 
and sports-related disputes. Fellowship has allowed 
me to get (and keep) acquainted with peers in the field 
across the globe – especially peers with a penchant for 
training and otherwise assisting newer entrants to the area.  
The frequent opportunity to conduct peer interviews of 
candidates for Fellowship has been an especially satisfying 
experience, allowing me to share my views of the opportunities 
and responsibilities of fellowship with the next generation of 
leaders in the field.
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5.3. Policy and External Affairs

2020 was an excellent year for the Policy 
and External Affairs team. We showed 
real resilience in the face of the pandemic 
and continued to deliver high-quality 
projects that raised the profile of CIArb 
on a number of fronts. Notably, we were 
seen to be at the forefront of the shift to 
remote working in March and April, with the 
rapid delivery of a new Guidance Note on 
Remote Proceedings. We were one of the 
first bodies to release such guidance, and 
we were singled out for particular praise. 
The document has been referenced and 
quoted all around the world and was a 
fantastic demonstration of CIArb’s relevance 
and influence. For example, in an influential 
Practical Law blog, Frederico Singarajah 
FCIArb said he found CIArb’s guideline, “one 
of the most comprehensive and useful”. 

CIArb hosted a roundtable with 
representatives from the Indian Law Ministry 
(including the Law Secretary) to discuss 
capacity building in India. We established 
CIArb as a key partner for the Indian 
Government on issues of arbitration and 
ADR and are continuing to work with them 
on our proposals for judicial training and 
advice. 

Following sustained engagement with both 
the Indian Law Ministry and the UK Ministry 
of Justice, we were successful in securing the 
removal of the Eighth Schedule from the 
Indian Arbitration and Conciliation Act. The 
Schedule would have impeded the ability of 
foreign arbitration practitioners to operate in 
India and was viewed as a potential barrier 
to the emergence of India as a globally 
competitive disputes hub. This achievement 
demonstrates the influence that CIArb 
Policy can bring to bear. In 2021, we will 
assess opportunities for emulating this kind 
of success in a wider range of jurisdictions 
around the world. 

Another highlight was the release of the 
UK All-Party Parliamentary Group for 
ADR’s report on the UK and Singapore as 
Global Dispute Hubs, the preparation of 
which was led by Lewis Johnston ACIArb. 
We were joined for the launch event by 
Sundaresh Menon, Chief Justice of Singapore, 
Kara Owen, UK High Commissioner for 
Singapore, and the APPG Chairs John Howell 
OBE FSA FRGS MP ACIArb and John 
Spellar MP. The report has been incredibly 
well-received, including by the LegalUK 
group, representing leading figures in UK 
dispute resolution. We are continuing to 
promote the recommendations with the UK 
government in 2021. 

I recommend [CIArb’s Guideline] 
without hesitation – Frederico 
Singarajah FCIArb (Practical Law blog)

[The Report] makes 3 
recommendations which the 
CMC wholeheartedly supports
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The transition to online-only publications 
was achieved with a minimum of friction, and 
our partnership with Wolters Kluwer  has 
allowed us to reach new audiences. This has 
been reflected in the first estimates for our 
royalty income, which are more than double 
what was attained under the previous 
publishing agreement.  

Our new ‘PolicyCast’ initiative has allowed 
CIArb to provide regular commentary 
and analysis on current issues affecting the 
profession. The recordings constitute most 
of the highest viewed videos on CIArb’s 
YouTube channel, with nearly 2000 views for 
the series to date.   

The 2020 DAS Convention reached over 
200 people worldwide – more than any 
previous event – and was the first to be 
held online. The discussions covered topics 
of genuine relevance and interest to our 
membership and demonstrated the value we 
can bring as a thought leader. The feedback 
from participants around the world was 
superb. One delegate commented “It was an 
excellent conference. Congratulations to the 
organizers and to the panelists.” 

Other successes include:

The second CIArb/Fox Williams Pre-Moot 
was held at Bloomsbury Square in February, 
attracting competing teams from around the 
world. 

We were one of the founding organisations 
behind the Virtual Arbitrations website in 
April. 

We launched our updated CIArb 
Adjudication Guidelines in July, with a very 
well-received online discussion. 

Lewis Johnston ACIArb met with the UK 
Planning Minister and the Chair of the 
APPG to discuss how mediation can play a 
greater role in the planning system. We are 
now exploring how DAS can play a role in 
delivering this alongside RICS as a potential 
partner organisation. 

We are continuing to promote the 
recommendations with the UK government 
in 2021. 

The first ever ‘Congress Conference’ was 
a real success, with sessions on EDI and 
Adjudication. 
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5.4. Dispute Appointments Service 

Number of cases

SDT (2019) – 2 cases

Arbitration Adjudication Mediation Expert 
Determination Total

2020 56 74 1 6 137

2019 97 103 5 2 209

5.5. Information technology

This past year threw up some interesting 
technology challenges as we moved from a 
central office base to a primarily distributed 
home working environment with new 
working practices. We started to roll out 
a few laptops to staff and will continue to 
do so into next year as we look to replace 
all desktops making us more flexible and 
mobile. 

Home working had everyone accessing 
work via their own internet connections. 
Office 365 accounts were accessed directly 
from home and thanks to our Virtual Private 
Network (VPN) technology staff could 
connect to files or shared areas in the 
office. We provided collaborative tools like 
Microsoft Teams, allowing staff to continue 
to work together, attend face-to-face and 
team meetings via video and collaborate as if 
we were in the office. We introduced better 
security, like Multi-Factor Authentication, 
helping to improve our defence against 
cyber attacks.

Technology continued rolling out through 
the year, including deployments of  “Zoho 
Projects” to support better planning 
activities, “Server monitoring tools” to help 
us be more pro-active with our server 
management, and finally, we deployed a new 
software based telephone system that helps 
us meet the requirements and conditions for 
a hybrid working environment. As next year 
progresses, we will continue to deploy more 
technology services into the Cloud, making 
them easier to access from anywhere, to be 
more flexible with better security and all as 
part of our “Digital First” journey.   
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5.6. People 

5.6.1. Full-time remote working 
and staff wellbeing

 
CIArb had successfully transitioned the 
vast majority of our workforce to operate 
fully remotely during the pandemic (initially 
3 members of staff were put on furlough 
and within several months that had been 
reduced to 1 – the Receptionist). 
 
Significant focus had been placed on 
employee wellbeing which was met with a 
high level of staff engagement despite the 
unprecedented circumstances we have all 
found ourselves in. 

Extensive wellbeing offering was put in 
place ensuring all aspects of wellbeing are 
addressed and especially that of mental 
health. Flexibility in the way we work, 
additional tools, training and workshops had 
been and are continuing to be provided 

to all employees together with any specific 
needs which are addressed on the case-by-
case basis. 

All the initiatives currently in place have 
the potential to underpin requirements 
for CIArb to obtain Investors in Wellbeing 
accreditation in the future. 

5.6.2.	Investors in People Accreditation

Investors in People (IIP) is a body assessing 
standard for People Management. It offers 
third party accreditation to organisations 
that can demonstrate best practice. It uses 
a framework to assess organisations against 
leading practices which create outstanding 
teams. There are several key areas which 
are externally reviewed including how the 
organisation leads, supports and improves. 

All staff had been invited to complete 
a questionnaire and several staff were 
randomly selected for interview by the 
assessors. 
 
In September 2020 we had been granted 
Investors in People Accreditation and below 
is a summary of the report: 
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87%

84%

82%

76%

74%

71%

of people agree or strongly agree 
their role enables them to work 
well with others. 

of people agree or strongly agree 
they are encouraged to use their 
initiative in their role.

of people agree or strongly agree 
they are trusted to make decisions 
in their role. 

of people agree or strongly 
agree they have discussed their 
performance with their manager 	
in the last six months. 

of people are encouraged to 
perform to the best of their 
abilities.

of people have agreed their 
objectives with their line manager 
in the last 12 months. 

CIArb has worked hard in recent years to 
improve in several areas relating to our 
staff and the way we interact with them. 
Examples include improved people practices; 
investment in an HR system; improved 
performance management practices; better 
reward and recognition. The organisation has 
undergone a comprehensive job evaluation 
exercise and staff have confidence in salaries 
and jobs being competitively assessed. 

Culturally people describe there to be a 
more pro-active approach in general.  

CIArb promotes positive team working and 
a strong culture of learning. This includes 
a commitment to enable people to gain 
professional qualifications as well as ongoing 
skills development. Supportive, high-quality 
leadership is evident, resulting in good 
engagement for most staff. The leadership 
programme that has commenced in 2020 
and is due to be cascaded throughout the 
organisation will strengthen this even further. 

There is passion and pride from the vast 
majority of people about working for CIArb. 
The staff survey also showed this with strong 
results surrounding feeling trusted in their 
role and people enjoying what they do.
 
CIArb is on a journey of transformational 
change which will continue to improve the 
organisation as the new initiatives, strategies 
and ways of working are developed and 
become more embedded. 

The development suggestions provided in 
this report as well as the planned investment 
in technology including the CRM, will 
build upon the work already started in 
building a solid infrastructure to support 
the organisation as it grows. CIArb is to be 
congratulated for meeting the Investors 
in People accreditation against the sixth-
generation framework.
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Devika Sammy ACIArb
Certified Mediator
practising in Trinidad 
and Tobago

CIArb has opened up my learning and 
networking opportunities both locally, within 

Trinidad and Tobago, and also on a global scale. 
Locally, using the CIArb credentials reflects 

my commitment to continuous learning 
in the field of ADR as it is a growing and 

changing field. It has earned me recognition 
as a practitioner in the field and opened up 
opportunities to expand my career past the 

confines of public service mediation practice.
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2021 is the first year of CIArb delivering 
against its new corporate strategy. It is 
therefore a transitional year in which CIArb 
will continue to build and put in place the 
foundations needed for it to continue to 
deliver for its members and achieve its 
charitable objective. 

It is recognised that the external 
environment is challenging as the world 
enters an economic downturn because of 
the Covid 19 pandemic, which will inevitably 
have an impact on our members’ practices 
and their ability, in some instances, to 
continue to pay for their membership.

It is with this in mind that we will aim to 
strengthen and define our member offer 
and to build a pipeline of future members 
through the introduction of an affiliate 
class of membership and through the 
development of our value proposition.

CIArb will focus on delivering:

A marketing and communication 
strategy together with an 
implementation plan. This will 
include a focus on implementing quick 
wins to improve our website, our 
content management, channel use, and 
communication with members _ through 
newsletters or other publications. We will 
undertake research to better understand 
our members’ needs and develop a member 
offer focused on delivering value for them. 
We will also consider our brand and its value 
and how we can articulate and enhance it. 
We will aim to segment our members based 
upon their career stage so we can support 
their career progression and ensure we 
remain relevant to them at different stages of 
their careers. We will also review our pricing 
strategy to make sure it is fair and equitable 
and assists us in incentivising progression. 

Revisions to our education and training 
offer. This will include reviewing and revising 
our pathways, (including simplifying our 
pathways if possible). We will develop and 
start to implement a mediation strategy to 
position CIArb as the home for mediators. 
Building in flexibility through developing a 
competence framework based on learning 
outcomes, we will give our faculty flexibility 
about how they deliver our training. We 
will also develop and implement a series of 
mini courses/CPD (continued professional 
development) targeted at supporting our 
members and developing their expertise. 
When appropriate, we will aim to work with 
partners to improve and increase the value 
of our member offer. 

2021

Looking forward  
to 2021

6.
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Enhance our Member offer by 
developing a focused value proposition 
which results in member growth and over 
time increased levels of retention. This 
will include undertaking market research 
to establish what our members want, (in 
each category of membership), identifying 
partners who can offer relevant products, 
exploring reciprocal relationships with other 
membership organisations and approaching 
global institutions to promote CIArb 
members’ competencies thereby increasing 
the ability for our members to access panels.

Improving communication and 
collaborative work with branches
which will include being clear about our 
expectations, about what branches deliver 
and supporting branches to deliver for our 
members. We will use MS teams and other 
IT solutions to improve communication 
and engagement and the dissemination of 
information to branches, establishing effective 
two-way communication. This will also 
include engaging several regional relationship 
managers to work on a regional basis 
developing CIArb regionally and working 
closely with our branches.

An equality diversity and inclusion (EDI) 
roadmap which ensures we start to embed 
EDI principles in everything we do, and 
which includes implementing a mentorship 
scheme for our members. 
 
 
 

A data strategy enabling us to make 
informed decisions through the effective use 
of data which will include ensuring data is 
accurate and identifying the additional data 
we need to better deliver for our members. 

Improving our business processes 
processes to ensure we are operating 
efficiently, mapping these processes to 
ensure we can effectively integrate with and 
automate our IT solutions.

A better CRM (customer relationship 
management) solution which is effective for 
the organisation which will include identifying 
and engaging a new CRM partner and web 
designer.

The next stage of our Investors in 
People people development through 
implementing blended working, supporting 
volunteers, developing our training and 
support to staff, improving performance 
management and embedding values.

A programme of thought leadership 
and establish a system for ensuring global 
reach on policy issues which will include 
undertaking relevant research.

Governance reforms to ensure that 
governance enables us to deliver our 
strategy. This will include amending 
constitutional documents and ensuring 
effective compliance across the organisation 
through the embedding of risk management.
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Trustees

Africa Region

Dr David Kariuki Muigua, Ph.D, LLM, LLB 
(Hons), Nrb; Dip. Law (K.S.L), FCPS (k), 
FCIArb C.Arb from 1 January 2019

Americas Region

Ann Ryan Robertson LLM, JD Attorney, 
C.Arb, FCIArb (Deputy Chair 2020) until 
31 January 2020

Amb. (r) David Huebner C.Arb, FCIArb from 
5 March 2020, (Honorary Treasurer from 1 
January 2021) (c) 

Australasia Region

Alexander John Wakefield BA, DipLaw, LLM, 
Solicitor, FCIArb, until 31 December 2020

Caroline Kenny QC, C.Arb, FCIArb from 
1 January 2021

East Asia Region

Paul Barrett, East Asia LLB (Hons),  
FCIArb from 1 January 2019

Europe Region

Dr Axel Reeg, MCIArb, MSIArb until 
31 December 2020

Governance7.

Dr Theophile Margellos MCIArb, from  
1 January 2021

Great Britain Region

Anthony Marks LLB (Hons), FCIArb, until 31 
December 2020 (Honorary Treasurer from 
1 January 2019) (c)

Marion Smith QC, FCIArb
 
Jonathan Wood LLB (Hons), Solicitor,  
FCIArb (Chair)

Lucy Greenwood C.Arb, FCIArb from 
1 January 2019

Andrew Miller QC FCIArb from 
1 January 2019

Richard Barnes FCIArb from
1 January 2021

Ireland Region
  
Arran Dowling Hussey B.A., M.Econ.Sc., 
LL.M., FCIArb, Barrister

Middle East/Indian 
Sub-continent Region

Prof. Dr Mohamed Abdel Wahab MCIArb 
from 1 January 2019
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Officers and Senior Managers 
of CIArb

President

Francis Xavier SC, FCIArb (2020) (a, b)

Ann Ryan Robertson LLM, JD Attorney, 
C.Arb, FCIArb (2021) (a, b)

Deputy President

Ann Ryan Robertson JD, LLM, C.Arb, 
FCIArb (2020)

Jane Gunn FCIArb (2021)

Chairman of Board of Management
	
Jane Gunn FCIArb until 31 December 
2020 (a, b)

Marion Smith QC, FCIArb from 1 January 
2021 (a, b)

Director General 

S Anthony Abrahams TD, DL, MBA, MCIArb 
until 30 April 2020 (b)

C Dixon LLB (Hons), MBA, Solicitor  
(Non-Practising) from 1 May 2020 (b)

Membership of Boards and Committees

(a)	 Non-Voting Member of Board of 		
	 Trustees (ex officio)  
(b) 	 Member of Board of Management 	
	 (ex officio)	 	
(c)  	 Member of Audit Committee

Principal and Registered Office

12 Bloomsbury Square,
London, WC1A 2LP
United Kingdom

Banker
						    
HSBC Bank plc.
165 Fleet Street
London EC4A 2DY

Solicitors 

Bircham Dyson Bell LLP
50 Broadway	
London SW1H 0BL				  
		
Auditor

RSM UK Audit LLP 
St Philips Point
Temple Row
Birmingham B2 5AF

Investment Manager

Newton Investment Management
BNY Mellon Centre
160 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4V 4LA
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Efosa O. Ewere FCIArb
Dispute Resolution Practitioner 

and the Chair of  YMG  
CIArb Nigeria

The seminars, training and workshop, 
organized by my branch for its members, 

gave me more insight into the practice 
of ADR, particularly as a young member 

where asides from the training, most of the 
seminars are non-fee paying programs.
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Purpose of CIArb

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(“CIArb”) is a charity and professional 
membership organisation with the object 
of promoting and facilitating worldwide the 
determination of disputes by all forms of 
dispute resolution (“ADR”). Its membership 
comprises ADR practitioners and others 
interested in ADR, with specialisms in a wide 
range of sectors, who are committed to 
helping people and businesses avoid, manage 
and resolve their differences in an efficient, 
cooperative and cost-effective manner.

Structure, Governance and Management

CIArb is a registered charity, registration 
number 803725. It was formed in 1915, 
incorporated on 8th April 1923, and granted 
a Royal Charter on 6th February 1979. It 
became a charitable body on 19th July 1990. 
A new Royal Charter and Bye-laws were 
approved by members at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting on 28th October 2004 
and became fully effective on 28th February 
2005 with further amendments up to August 
2013. It is managed by a Board of Trustees 
constituted and organised in accordance 
with the Royal Charter and Bye-laws and in 
accordance with Regulations approved by 
the Board of Trustees. Membership of the 
Board of Trustees is by regional elections.

CIArb has 41 Branches throughout the 
world at the end of 2020. Certain Branches 

which cover a large geographic area have 
established local Chapters to provide a 
focal point for members who live a long 
distance away from the centre of the Branch. 
Branches are controlled by elected Branch 
Committees and Branch assets mainly 
consist of cash deposited with banks.

The Board of Trustees is directly elected 
by the members of CIArb and normally 
numbers not more than fourteen members 
of CIArb. In 2020, it consisted of five 
representatives from the members living 
in the ‘Great Britain’ region and seven 
representatives from the members living 
in each of the following regions of the 
world: Africa, Americas, Australasia, Europe 
(excluding Ireland and Great Britain as 
defined), East Asia, Ireland (both Northern 
Ireland and the Republic of Ireland) and the 
Middle East/Indian sub-continent. 

Membership of the Board of Trustees is 
restricted to Fellows and Members of 
CIArb. The term of office of the Trustees 
is four years and no Trustee may serve 
for more than two successive terms. Half 
of the elected Trustees retire by rotation 
every two years but may offer themselves 
for re-election provided that if they were 
re-elected they would not serve as a 
Trustee for more than eight continuous 
years. Any Trustee who has served for eight 
consecutive years may not offer themselves 
for re-election until at least two years have 
elapsed from the expiry of their last term

Objectives and Activities of CIArb8.
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of office. The President and the Chair of the 
Board of Management are non-voting ex 
officio members of the Board of Trustees.

Elections to the Board of Trustees are 
managed by the Executive and were 
overseen in 2020 by UK Engage. Successful 
candidates assume office on 1 January in 
the year following their election. All new 
Trustees participate in an induction process 
to inform of the operations of CIArb and 
their specific responsibilities as trustees of 
a charitable body. New Trustees are given 
an induction pack, detailing, amongst other 
things, their duties and responsibilities and 
are invited to an introductory presentation 
by the Executive. The elected members of 
the Board of Trustees elect one of their own 
number, on an annual basis, to act as Chair of 
the Board of Trustees.

Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the 
Board of Trustees were unable to meet 
physically twice in 2020. However, they met 
by video conference 3 times. The Trustees 
were in regular contact with each other by 
telephone or electronic means throughout 
the year and decisions can be, and were, 
made electronically.

All the powers and the strategic policies of 
CIArb are vested in theBoard of Trustees. 
The management and control of all its 
affairs is exercised by it, except insofar as 
such management or control is required to 
be exercised by the members of CIArb in 
General Meeting or at a Congress, or if the 
Board of Trustees is of the opinion that any 
of its functions, duties and/or responsibilities 
could be more efficiently carried out by 

delegating it to the Board of Management 
and/or to other Committees and/or to 
Executive Officers of CIArb. It may delegate 
that function, duty and/or responsibility 
accordingly, provided that:

(a)	 any such delegation is in accordance 	
	 with the provisions of the Bye-laws, 	
	 and

(b)	 nothing shall be taken to permit the 	
	 Board of Trustees to abrogate its 	
	 functions, duties and/or responsibilities 	
	 or any of its trusts.

The individual Trustees are not entitled 
to receive any remuneration for the 
performance of any duties or services or for 
the provision of their services as Trustees, 
save only for the payment of expenses 
properly incurred.

The Board of Trustees has the power to 
make, amend or revoke such Regulations 
and rules as it considers necessary for the 
governance and the efficient management of 
CIArb, provided that any such Regulations or 
rules are consistent with the articles of the 
Charter and the Bye-laws.

The Board of Trustees has delegated certain 
powers, functions and duties to the Board of 
Management by means of the Regulations. 
The principal matters delegated to the 
Board of Management are:

(a)	 to oversee the day-to-day 		
	 management of CIArb in accordance 	
	 with the policies formulated and laid 	
	 down by the Board of Trustees;
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(b)	

(c)	 to formulate all necessary Regulations, 	
	 rules, protocols and procedures for 	
	 approval by the Board of Trustees and, 	
	 once approved, to implement and 	
	 enforce them. 

The Board of Management, which met 
three times in 2020, shall have not more 
than 15 members, including at least one 
Trustee (usually the Honorary Treasurer), a 
Chair appointed by the Board of Trustees, 
the President, the Chair of the Practice and 
Standards Committee, the Chair of the 
Education and Membership Committee, the 
Chair of the Panels Management Group, the 
Chair of the Young Members Group, the 
Director General and such other Trustees, 
members of CIArb and Executive Officers 
as the Board of Trustees shall determine. In 
addition, the Board of Management has the 
power to co-opt up to three members of 
CIArb to assist in its business. The minutes 
of all Board of Management meetings are 
available to the Trustees and the Chair of 
the Board of Management reports verbally 
to each physical meeting of the Board of 
Trustees.

The day-to-day management of CIArb 
is delegated to the Executive led by the 
Director General, whose role is that of 
Chief Executive. The remuneration of the 
Director General is set annually each year 
by the Chair of the Board of Management 
and the Honorary Treasurer. When setting 
the remuneration of the other members of 
the Executive during the preparation of the 
annual budget for approval by the Board of 
Trustees, the Director General, the Director 
of Finance and IT, the Deputy Director 
General and the HR Manager consult salary 
surveys provided by recruitment companies 
to ensure we offer salaries which are 
competitive to retain and/or recruit good 
quality staff.
  
The Board of Trustees have the power to 
establish, maintain and/or close Branches 
to benefit from members’ knowledge of 
the area in which they practise and to 
improve contact with potential users of 
ADR processes. Details of Branch results 
are shown in note 20 to the accompanying 
financial statements. There are some 
jurisdictions where it is either required or 
beneficial for a Branch to be incorporated. 
These incorporated Branches appear in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet but do not 
appear in the Parent Undertaking Balance 
Sheet.

In addition to the incorporated branches 
CIArb has, for reasons of governance or 
financial efficiency, four wholly-owned 
subsidiaries:

to ensure that CIArb’s Executive, 
the Committees and the Branches 
of CIArb function efficiently in 
accordance with the said policies, 
provided that the Professional 
Conduct Committee shall be 
independent from and not be subject 
to the control of the Board of 
Management, which shall nevertheless 
ensure that this Committee is 
properly supported; and



CIArb Annual Report 202034

•	12 Bloomsbury Square Limited: to provide 	
	 facilities for ADR hearings, conferences, 	
	 training and other events; 

•	Arbitration Services Limited: to collect 	
	 sponsorship income for CIArb events; and 

•	City Disputes Panel Limited: to supply 	
	 conflict resolution solutions targeted 		
	 to the City of London financial services 	
	 industry (now dormant).  

•	Independent Dispute Resolution 		
	 Services: to provide services for the 		
	 avoidance, management and/or resolution 	
	 of complaints and disputes (now dormant). 
 
Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities
 
The Trustees are responsible for preparing 
the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

The law applicable to charities in England 
& Wales requires the Trustees to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year 
which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the charity and of the incoming 
resources and application of resources of 
the charity for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the trustees are 
required to:

(a)	 select suitable accounting policies and 	
	 then apply them consistently;

(b)	 observe the methods and principles  
	 in the Charities SORP;

(c)	 make judgments and estimates that 	
	 are reasonable and prudent;

(d)	 state whether applicable accounting 	
	 standards have been followed, subject 	
	 to any material departures disclosed 	
	 and explained in the financial 		
	 statements;

(e)	 prepare the financial statements 		
	 on the going concern basis unless it 	
	 is inappropriate to presume that the 	
	 charity will continue in business. 
 
The Trustees are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the charity and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Charities Act 2011, the Charity 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 
and the provisions of the Royal Charter 
and bye-laws. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the charity and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the charity and 
financial information included on the charity’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

The Trustees have overall responsibility for 
ensuring that CIArb has an appropriate 
system of controls, financial and otherwise,  
which will provide reasonable assurance that:
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(a)	 CIArb is operating efficiently and 	
	 effectively;

(b)	 its assets are safeguarded against 	
	 unauthorised use or disposition;

(c)	 proper records are maintained and 	
	 the financial information used within 	
	 CIArb is reliable;

(d)	 CIArb complies with relevant laws 	
	 and regulations.

Principal Risks Identification 
and Management

The risks to which CIArb are exposed 
are monitored on a regular basis by the 
Executive together with the appropriate 
action taken to minimise any disruption to 
the effectiveness of CIArb’s work. This is 
reported to the Board of Management and 
Audit and Risk Committee, who in turn 
report to the Board of Trustees who have 
ultimate responsibility for managing risk. The 
principal risks, uncertainties and safeguards 
include:

Risk or uncertainty

•	Loss of reputation;

•	Loss in perceived value of CIArb		
	 qualifications;

•	Loss of membership revenue. 

Safeguard

•	Imposing and maintaining high professional 	
	 standards

•	Updating the syllabus including centralised 	
	 global assessment 

•	Reviewing and improving the services 	
	 offered to members; promoting 		
	 the benefits of ADR to potential users to 	
	 increase demand for our members’ 		
	 services 
 
The risk management framework for CIArb 
has been reviewed and a new framework is 
being implemented in 2021. 
 
Investments

CIArb’s Investments are managed with the 
objective of preserving and growing the 
invested capital ahead of inflation without 
taking undue risk whilst generating a 
moderate degree of income. CIArb invests 
with Newton’s Global Growth and Income 
Fund for Charities. Newton’s charges are 
taken from the capital of the Fund. CIArb 
monitors the performance of the Fund.

Objectives and Activities of CIArb

The charitable object for which CIArb is 
established and incorporated is ‘to promote 
and facilitate worldwide the determination 
of disputes by arbitration and alternative 
means of private dispute resolution other 
than resolution by the court’. 

The main beneficiaries of the work carried 
out by CIArb are the general public both in 
the United Kingdom and elsewhere in the 
world. The Trustees have had due regard to 
the public benefit guidance published by the 
Charity Commission.
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To fulfil CIArb objectives the Trustees have established Four Pillars of Strategy:

To promote ADR and to protect 
the CIArb professional standards 
and values by maintaining 
consistent and excellent high 
quality standards across the globe 
preserving and enhancing the 
CIArb Brand.

The development of Rules Ethics 
and Guidance to members 

together with education and 
training in all areas of ADR in 

parallel with the delivery of CIArb 
qualifications, higher level courses 
and academic courses and events.

To ensure that fraternity, services and 
products offered by CIArb drive a 
virtuous circle in member partnership, 
networking and benefits that are relevant 
and valued and that bring individuals and 
organisations to membership of CIArb at 
a sustainable and proportionate cost. 

To examine CIArb income streams 
including membership subscriptions, 

education, training and other sources of 
income so that they are best allocated 

across CIArb.

In November 2020, the Board of Trustees adopted a new strategy to take effect for the 
period 2021 – 2023.

Four Pillars 
of Strategy:

1. 2.

3. 4.
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Attendance at Board of Trustees Meetings in 2020 

(Meetings held on 4 February, 11 and 12 June, 8 September and 12 and 13 November)  

Name Region Attendance

Marion Smith QC (Vice Chair)

Jonathan Wood (Chair)

Anthony Marks 
(Honorary Treasurer)

Andrew Miller QC

Lucy Greenwood

Dr David Kariuki Muigua

David Huebner 
(appointed 5 March 2020)

Alexander John Wakefield

Dr Axel Reeg

Paul Barrett

Prof. Dr Mohamed Abdel Wahab

Arran Dowling Hussey

Jane Gunn

Francis Xavier SC

3/3 (NB was not in office 
for one meeting)

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Great Britain

Africa

Americas

Australasia

Europe

East Asia

Middle East/Indian 
Sub-Continent

Ireland

Ex Officio (Chair of  
Board of Management)

Ex Officio (President)

4/4

4/4

4/4

3/4 

4/4

3/4

3/4

3/4

4/4

4/4

3/4
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Cesar Pereira FCIArb
Attorney and Arbitrator,

Chair, CIArb Brazil Branch,
São Paulo, Brazil

I took the first ARF held in Brazil, in 2013.  
It was extraordinary, the most fruitful three days for  

advanced learning and top-level networking in my professional life.  
I am happy now to have helped provide the same experience in 

several ARFs in Brazil. CIArb has given me the invaluable opportunity 
to connect and collaborate with highly qualified ADR professionals 

across the world, in a wide range of international projects and 
initiatives. The CIArb post-nominals signal our commitment to the 

strictest standards of quality and ethics. They signify innovation 
and audacity, resilience and openness to change; our pride for past 

achievements and confidence in what we can build together.
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Basis of Financial Statements

The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the accounting policies 
set out in notes to the accounts and comply 
with the charity’s governing document, 
the Charities Act 2011 and Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland published on 16 July 2014.

Review of transactions and financial 
position of CIArb

The consolidated net assets of CIArb 
increased by £895,343 to £9,128,947. 
The Central operations surplus includes a 
decrease in the investment portfolio of  
£8,584 and trading losses from CIArb wholly  

owned subsidiaries 12 Bloomsbury Square 
Ltd of £264,486, Arbitration Services Ltd a 
loss of £nil and a City Disputes Panel Ltd 
trading loss of £nil. The deficit from the 
branch operations includes a net translation 
loss of £147,948 relating to the net assets of 
international branches. 

The Group’s principal sources of funding are 
membership subscriptions followed by the 
provision of education and training. These 
funds are used to support the achievement 
of CIArb’s overall objectives. 

In 2020 membership subscriptions including 
application fees decreased 7% (2019: 4% 
increase) to £4,586,027 while the number of 
members increased by 941 (2019: 308) to 
16,530. Revenue from Education and Training 
activities decreased by 5% on the previous 
year (2019: 0% increase) at £1,981,801.

Financial Review9.

Fellow

Member

Associate

Retired

Total

1,174,630

2,193,678

681,919

78,760

4,128,987

1,460,000

1,830,000

866,000

44,000

4,200,000

-285,370

363,678

-184,081

34,760

-71,013

2019 Actual Budget Variance

Fellow

Member

Associate

Retired

Total

1,572,099

1,786,835

809,948

43,508

4,212,390

1,542,000

1,817,000

846,000

45,000

4,250,000

30,099

-30,165

-36,052

-1,492

-37,610

2020 Actual Budget Variance

Membership subscriptions for 2020 compared to 2019
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Scheme administration is presented in the 
SOFA under ‘Appointment and scheme 
administration fees’ which also includes 
Presidential Appointments operated by 
CIArb’s Dispute Appointment Service 
(“DAS”) and the schemes operated by 
certain branches. Fees from all such sources 
totalled £88,930 (2019: £104,601) and 
is made up of Headquarters £55,643 
(2019: £66,495) and branches £33,287 
(2019: £38,106). Total costs for this area of 
operations are £173,305 (2019: £398,680).
 
Revenue from the room hire company, 12 
Bloomsbury Square Ltd, showed a decrease 
of 84% (2019: 12% increase) on 2019 levels 
to £141,728. This figure does not include 

the rooms hired to the parent charity for 

Education and Training and Governance 
meetings which were valued at £50,931 
(2019: £108,371).
 
City Disputes Panel Ltd (“CDP”) had no net 
movements in 2020 and is now dormant. 
The balance sheet for CDP shows a deficit 
of £95,300 and is considered by the Trustees 
to be in material deficit. The balance relates 
entirely to a loan from CIArb which has 
been fully provided for. 

The consolidated surplus for the year after 
realised and unrealised investment losses 
and net translation losses, together with the 
accumulated balance at 31 December 2020 
are as shown below:

The restricted funds in the Kenya branch are 
set aside to fund the purchase of property 
for the branch office.
 
In the consolidated Balance Sheet, tangible 
and intangible fixed assets decreased in the 
year from £6,460,703 to £6,405,123. The 
decrease was related to depreciation and 
amortisation, with an amount of additional 
purchases, mostly within software.
 
CIArb’s investments are managed by 
Newton Investment Management. The 

investment takes the form of dividend-paying 
shares in the Newton Growth and Income 
Fund for Charities. The fund is actively 
managed to a benchmark which is 50% FTSE 
All-share Index, 25% FTSE World (ex-UK) 
20% FTSE Government All Stocks Index and 
5% Cash. The market value of investments 
decreased by 0.5% to £1,599,195 from 
£1,607,779. The performance of the 
investments is closely monitored to ensure 
returns are commensurate for the risk and 
the management fee – currently 0.6% – is 
good value for money.
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Reserves policy
 
CIArb’s Board of Trustees has set a reserves 
policy to balance the provision of sufficient 
liquid reserves to deal with an emergency 
situation without tying up CIArb funds 
unnecessarily. The reserves policy is as 
follows:
 
(a) 	 Liquid Reserves
	 The level of liquid reserves should 	
	 be approximately three months’ 		
	 worth of regular expenditure, which 	
	 for 2021 is budgeted as £1,573,750.

(b) 	 Overall Reserves
	 The level of overall reserves should 	
	 be approximately nine months’ 		
	 worth of regular expenditure, which 	
	 for 2021 is budgeted as £4,721,250.

Liquid Reserves are made up of the 
investment portfolio which stood at 
£1,599,195 at the year end and central 
cash balances of £1,056,954 for a total of 
£2,656,149.

Overall Reserves are the total of the net 
assets excluding those of the branches 
(so the net assets held by head office plus 
the UK trading subsidiaries). These total 
£6,867,168.

Regular expenditure consists of the normal 
day to day expenditure of CIArb and its 
operating subsidiaries. It excludes exceptional 
items such as costs relating to tribunals, 
international conferences and other matters 
which do not recur annually.

The current level of overall reserves 
complies with this policy. The level of Liquid 
Reserves including cash in hand at the year-
end was compliant with the policy.
 
At times in the year when the cash balances 
at the London Headquarters (HQ) are low, 
an overdraft facility is arranged with HSBC 
such that the London HQ has access to 
liquid resources (the investment portfolio + 
£300,000 overdraft facility) of at least three 
months’ worth of London HQ expenditure 
without having to affect the cash reserves 
held by the overseas branches.

Assets and Obligations 

The net assets of CIArb are available and 
adequate to fulfil the obligations of CIArb. 

Fundraising Disclosure

CIArb does not undertake any fundraising. 
All fundraising income is generated by 
ASL and stems from professional firms 
sponsoring CIArb events.

Funds held as Custodian

CIArb holds funds from time to time on 
behalf of arbitrators and others as security 
for their fees and costs. These funds originate 
from the parties involved in the arbitration 
and are kept by CIArb in a separate bank 
account and are not mixed with its own 
funds.
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Re-appointment of the Auditor

A resolution proposing the re-appointment of RSM UK Audit LLP as auditor to CIArb will be 
put to the Trustees.

Signed on behalf of the Trustees:

			 Jonathan Wood		 David Huebner
(Trustee) 			  (Trustee)

Date: 9 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Trustees of the Chartered Institute 
of Arbitrators

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements 
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(the ‘parent charity’) and its subsidiaries (the 
‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 
2020 which comprise the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Activities, the 
Consolidated and Parent Undertaking 
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent 
Undertaking Cash Flow Statements and 
notes to the financial statements, including 
significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state
of the group’s and charity’s affairs as at
31 December 2020 and of their incoming
resources and application of resources for
the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and

• have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Charities Act
2011.

Basis for opinion 

We have been appointed as auditors under 
section 151 of the Charities Act 2011 and 
report in accordance with regulations made 
under section 154 of that Act. 

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group and parent charity 
in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the trustees’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant 
doubt on the group’s or parent charity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a  
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period of at least twelve months from when 
the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities 
of the trustees with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 

Other information

The other information comprises the 
information included in the Trustee’s Annual 
Report other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The 
trustees are responsible for the other 
information contained within the Trustees’ 
Annual Report. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other 
information and, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the course 
of the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required 
to determine whether this gives rise to 
a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that 
fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Charities Act 
2011 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• the information given in the financial
statements is inconsistent in any material
respect with the Trustees’ Annual Report;
or

• sufficient accounting records have not
been kept by the parent charity; or

• the parent charity financial statements
are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees 

As explained more fully in the Statement 
of Trustees’ responsibilities set out on page 
34, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the  
trustees are responsible for assessing the 
group’s and parent charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
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applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the trustees either intend 
to liquidate the group or parent charity or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

The extent to which the audit was 
considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities are instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. The objectives of 
our audit are to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding compliance with 
laws and regulations that have a direct effect 
on the determination of material amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, 
to perform audit procedures to help 
identify instances of non-compliance with 

other laws and regulations that may have a 
material effect on the financial statements, 
and to respond appropriately to identified 
or suspected non-compliance with laws and 
regulations identified during the audit.  

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our 
audit are to identify and assess the risk 
of material misstatement of the financial 
statements due to fraud, to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
assessed risks of material misstatement due 
to fraud through designing and implementing 
appropriate responses and to respond 
appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud 
identified during the audit.  

However, it is the primary responsibility of 
management, with the oversight of those 
charged with governance, to ensure that 
the entity’s operations are conducted in 
accordance with the provisions of laws 
and regulations and for the prevention and 
detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material 
misstatement in respect of irregularities, 
including fraud, the group audit engagement 
team:  

• obtained an understanding of the nature
of the sector, including the legal and
regulatory frameworks, that the group and
parent charity operate in and how the
group and parent charity is complying with
the legal and regulatory frameworks;

• inquired of management, and those
charged with governance, about their own
identification and assessment of the risks
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of irregularities, including any known actual, 
suspected or alleged instances of fraud; 

• discussed matters about non-compliance
with laws and regulations and how fraud
might occur including assessment of how
and where the financial statements may be
susceptible to fraud.

As a result of these procedures we consider 
the most significant laws and regulations 
that have a direct impact on the financial 
statements are FRS 102, Charities SORP 
(FRS 102), Charities Act 2011, the parent 
charity’s governing document and tax 
legislation. We performed audit procedures 
to detect non-compliances which may have 
a material impact on the financial statements 
which included reviewing the financial 
statements including the Trustees’ Annual 
Report, remaining alert to new or unusual 
transactions which may not be in accordance 
with the governing documents, inspecting 
correspondence local tax authorities and 
evaluating advice received from external 
advisors.

The most significant laws and regulations 
that have an indirect impact on the financial 
statements are those in relation to General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). We 
performed audit procedures to inquire 
of management and those charged with 
governance whether the group is in 
compliance with these law and regulations 
and reviewed Board of Trustees’ minutes.

The group audit engagement team identified 
the risk of management override of controls 
as the area where the financial  statements 
were most susceptible to material 

misstatement due to fraud. Audit procedures 
performed included but were not limited 
to testing manual journal entries and other 
adjustments, evaluating the business rationale 
in relation to significant, unusual transactions 
and transactions entered into outside the 
normal course of business, challenging 
judgments and estimates. A further 
description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is provided 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 
at www.frc.org.uk auditors responsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the charity’s 
trustees as a body, in accordance with the 
Charities Act 2011. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to 
the charity’s trustees those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the charity and the charity’s 
trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RSM UK Audit LLP, 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants,
St Philips Point, Temple Row, 
Birmingham B2 5AF 
Date:

RSM UK Audit LLP is eligible to act as an 
auditor in terms of section 1212 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

http://www.frc.org.uk
pxo2
Typewritten Text
11 August 2021
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CIArb opens many doors to its members. With an 
interesting flair of British tradition in modern times, 

CIArb continues to be one of the best places to 
look for ADR knowledge. Pursuing a certification 

or a fellowship is certainly a marvelous manner 
of showing the ADR community your standards 

and how you position yourself. As a member you 
get instantly updated on the latest trends, judicial 

decisions, law changes in the context of ADR 
worldwide and have access to the discussions local 
experts are having on such topics. The networking 

is fabulous – fellowship and cordiality hover over all 
interactions within members and there is genuine 

willingness to support each other.

Karin Klempp Franco FCIArb
Lawyer and Professor of Law in Brazil
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
for the year ended 31 December 2020

None of the Group’s activities were acquired or discontinued during the above two financial 
years. Included in the above is restricted income of £0 (2019: £55,564) and restricted 
expenditure of £5,723 (2019: £0) which has been included within unrestricted income above 
based on materiality. The separate disclosure of these restricted funds would not materially 
affect the Statement of Financial Activities and details are provided in Note 17.

The Notes on pages 54 to 90 form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for issue on 9 June 2021 and signed on its 
behalf by:

		

The Notes on pages 54 to 90 form part of these financial statements. 

Catherine Dixon
(Director General)

David Huebner 
(Trustee)

Jonathan Wood
(Trustee)	
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Parent Undertaking Balance Sheet
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for issue on 9 June 2021 and signed on its 
behalf by:

		

The Notes on pages 54 to 90 form part of these financial statements. 

Catherine Dixon
(Director General)

David Huebner 
(Trustee)

Jonathan Wood
(Trustee)	
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Parent Undertaking Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Samuel M. Nderitu FCIArb 
Advocate, Commissioner for  

Oaths & Notary Public,  
Arbitrator, Accredited  

Mediator & Trainer, 
Nairobi, Kenya

My CIArb membership of 12 years has helped  
to serve in various capacities as tutor of arbitration and 
mediation in Kenya and abroad; I have toured the world 

and created my network on the CIArb platform. My 
membership has also allowed me to serve the ADR world, 

the most notable mentions being: Chairman of CIArb 
(Kenya Branch), Director of the National Committee of 

the ICC, Kenya, and Member of the Judiciary of Kenya 
Committee on Alternative Justice Systems.
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Notes for the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1. General information

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(“CIArb”) is a charity registered in England 
and Wales, registration number 803725. It 
was formed in 1915, incorporated on 8th 
April 1923, and granted a Royal Charter on 
6th February 1979.  It became a charitable 
body on 19th July 1990. A new Royal 
Charter and Bye-laws were approved by 
members at an Extraordinary General 
Meeting on 28th October 2004 and 
became fully effective on 28th February 
2005. Amended by order in Council  on 6th 
August 2013.

The charity is a public benefit entity and its 
principal activities are set out in the Trustees’ 
Annual Report.

The Registered Office is: 12 Bloomsbury 
Square, London, WC1A 2LP.

2. Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting
The accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities preparing their 
accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (second 
edition effective 1 January 2019) and the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102), the Charities Act 2011 and UK 
Generally Accepted Practice. Accounting 

policies have been consistently applied 
except where noted below. The financial 
statements are prepared in pounds sterling 
and rounded to the nearest £. 

The accounts have been prepared to give 
a ‘true and fair’ view and have departed 
from the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 only to the extent 
required to provide a ‘true and fair view’. This 
departure has involved following Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities preparing their 
accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (second 
edition effective 1 January 2019) rather than 
the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice 
effective from 1 April 2005 which has since 
been withdrawn.

(b) Consolidation
The consolidated accounts incorporate the 
accounts of CIArb and its subsidiaries made 
up to 31 December 2020. The result is 
consolidated on a line-by-line basis.

A separate Statement of Financial Activities 
is not presented for CIArb itself. For the year 
ended 31 December 2020 the income of 
CIArb was £6,960,920 (2019: £7,019,548), 
expenditure was £5,640,081 (2019: 
£6,715,031), its losses on investment assets 
were £8,584 (2019: gains of £216,792), its 
translation losses were £156,077 (2019: 
£67,548) and its net movement in funds was 
a surplus of £1,156,178 (2019: surplus of 
£453,761).
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(c) Going concern
The Institute’s accounts are prepared on the 
basis that it is a going concern. It continues 
to produce an annual surplus of income over 
expenditure and has set its 2021 budget 
on the reasonable assumption that this will 
continue. In the light of the ongoing impact 
of COVID-19 pandemic, the Trustees and 
management have re-assessed and updated 
the forecast and are confident there are 
sufficient reserves to continue operating 
for the foreseeable future. The Institute 
continues to monitor events as they unfold, 
and the forward projections are updated 
accordingly.

The Trustees confirm that at the time of 
approving the financial statements, and based 
on their forecasts until 31 December 2021, 
there is a reasonable expectation that the 
Institute has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. In arriving at this conclusion, the 
Trustees have taken account of current 
and anticipated financial performance in 
the current economic conditions, and the 
Institute’s reserves position. At 31 December 
2020, the Institute held unrestricted 
cash balances of £3.6m and unrestricted 
investments of £1.6m. 

(d) Tangible Fixed Assets and 
Depreciation
Tangible fixed assets costing more than 
£1,000 are capitalised at cost.

Depreciation commences when an asset is 
brought into use and is calculated to write 
off the cost, less estimated residual values, 
of tangible fixed assets over their estimated 
useful lives. The annual depreciation rates 
and methods are as follows: 

Freehold Land

Improvements to
Leasehold Premises

Furniture and Fittings

Computer and
Electronic Equipment

(e) Freehold Buildings
Freehold buildings are depreciated to the 
extent that the residual value is lower than 
the net book value, and valuations are 
obtained to support this.

(f) Intangible Fixed Assets and 
Amortisation
Intangible fixed assets costing more than 
£1,000 are capitalised at cost. Cost includes 
the original purchase price of the asset and 
the costs attributable to bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use.

Amortisation commences when the asset is 
brought into use and is calculated to write 
off the cost, less estimated residual values, of 
intangible fixed assets over their estimated 

Notes for the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Nil

Over the remaining 
period of the lease

10% per annum on 
cost

33 1/3% per annum 
on cost
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

useful lives. The annual amortisation rates 
and methods are as follows:

Computer software	 20% per annum 	
				    on cost

(g) Stock and Goods for Resale
Stock and Goods for Resale are included at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(h) Leases
An asset and corresponding liability are 
recognised for leasing agreements that 
transfer to CIArb substantially all of the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
(“finance leases”). The amount capitalised is 
the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease 
payments payable during the lease term, 
both determined at inception of the lease. 
Lease payments are treated as consisting of 
capital and interest elements. Any interest 
is charged to the Statement of Financial 
Activities so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. 

All other leases are operating leases and the 
annual rentals are charged to the Statement 
of Financial Activities on a straight line basis 
over the lease term.

(i) Branches
The activities and funds of branches 
established by CIArb and governed by the 
Branch Model Rules, but not incorporated 
locally are regarded as those of CIArb itself 
and are included by means of aggregation in 

the Accounts. Locally incorporated branches 
are treated as subsidiaries as described in 
note 2(n).

(j) Foreign Currency Funds and 
Transactions
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. All differences are taken to the 
Statement of Financial Activities.

Assets, liabilities, and results of overseas 
branches are translated at the rate ruling at 
the balance sheet date. Exchange differences 
arising are recognised as other recognised 
gains and losses.

(k) Subscriptions, Fees and Services
Subscriptions, fees and services are included 
in the financial statements on the basis 
of amounts receivable in respect of the 
accounting period.

(l) Recognition of Income
Membership subscription income for the 
current year is recognised when received. 
Subscription income received in advance 
relating to subsequent years is deferred. 
Advances of subscriptions received at the 
time of application for membership but prior 
to admittance are recorded as deferred 
income at the year end and recognised as 
income in the period when the applicant is 
admitted as a member.
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Income from administered dispute 
resolution schemes for case work is normally 
recognised either in accordance with 
relevant scheme contractual specifications 
or on conclusion of the case, that is, when 
a decision is made by the appointed 
dispute resolver or an outcome is agreed 
between the parties.  Income from fees 
paid as retainers and similar arrangements is 
recognised on an accruals basis. 
	
Education and training income relating to 
courses is recognised when the course has 
started. Room hire, event admission and all 
other income is recognised when the activity 
has taken place.

(m) Investments
Investments are included in the Balance 
Sheet at fair value at the Balance Sheet 
date. The Statement of Financial Activities 
includes the net gains and losses arising on 
revaluations and disposals throughout the 
year.

(n) Investments in Subsidiary 
Undertakings
Investment in subsidiaries are initially 
measured at cost and subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Interests in subsidiaries 
are assessed for impairment at each 
reporting date. Any impairment losses 
or impairment reversals are recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Financial 
Activities. The net asset values of the 
operating subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 

10 (for UK subsidiaries) and 20(b) (for 
incorporated international branches).

Incorporated branches are treated as 
subsidiaries and the results of these are 
included within the consolidated results 
but not those of the parent undertaking. 
The results of other branches are included 
in both the parent undertaking and 
consolidated results. 

(o) Impairments
Shortfalls between the carrying value of 
fixed assets and their recoverable amounts, 
being the higher of net realisable value and 
value-in-use, are recognised as impairments. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Activities.

(p) Investments in Associated 
Undertakings
Investment in associated undertakings is 
stated at cost less any impairment if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be fully 
recoverable or as otherwise required by 
relevant accounting standards. CIArb has 
made no investment in the associated 
undertaking during the year and the value of 
its investment at the year-end is £nil.

(q) Allocation of Costs
All expenditure is accounted for on an 
accruals basis and has been classified under 
headings that aggregate all costs related 
to the category. Costs that are directly 
attributable are allocated on a departmental 
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basis and support costs added.  Head Office 
staff costs are apportioned to departments 
on an actual basis and accommodation costs 
according to assessed work area.  Other 
Head Office costs, including Governance 
costs, are apportioned to departments on a 
reasonable basis. Please see note 5.

(r) Pensions
CIArb operates a Defined Contribution 
Pension Scheme. Pension contributions 
are charged to the Statement of Financial 
Activities as incurred. These contributions are 
invested separately from CIArb assets.

(s) Financial Instruments
The Group has elected to apply the 
provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial 
Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other Financial 
Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102, in full, to all 
of its financial instruments. All of its Financial 
Instruments are classified as “basic”. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument and are offset only when the 
Group currently has a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Financial assets

Debtors
Debtors which are receivable within one 
year and which do not constitute a financing 

transaction are initially measured at the 
transaction price. Debtors are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, being the 
transaction price less any amounts settled 
and any impairment losses. 

A provision for impairment of debtors is 
established when there is objective evidence 
that the amounts due will not be collected 
according to the original terms of the 
contract. Impairment losses are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Activities for the 
excess of the carrying value of the debtor 
over the present value of the future cash 
flows discounted using the original effective 
interest rate. Subsequent reversals of an 
impairment loss that objectively relate to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised, are recognised immediately 
in the Statement of Financial Activities.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial instruments are classified as 
liabilities and equity instruments according 
to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of CIArb after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

Other creditors 
Other creditors payable within one year that 
do not constitute a financing transaction are 
initially measured at the transaction price 
and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, being the transaction price less any 
amounts settled.
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Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at the 
transaction price, including transaction costs, 
and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense is recognised on the 
basis of the effective interest method and 
is included in administration costs and 
reallocated across charitable activities.

Derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised only when 
the contractual rights to cash flows expire 
or are settled, or substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to another party, or if some significant risks 
and rewards of ownership are retained 
but control of the asset has transferred to 
another party that is able to sell the asset 
in its entirety to an unrelated third party. 
A financial liability (or part thereof) is 
derecognised when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expires.

(t) Critical accounting estimates and 
areas of judgement
Estimates and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. There are no estimates 
and assumptions that are considered to 
have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

(u) Charitable Status
CIArb is registered as a charity, registration 
number 803725, and in consequence it is 
exempt from taxation on income arising 
from and expended on its charitable 
activities.
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3. Income from charitable activities

4. Investment Income
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5. Expenditure

 Support costs:
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Crystal Wong Wai Chin FCIArb
Arbitration Practitioner in Malaysia,  
Singapore and the ASEAN region

I was introduced to CIArb in 2013 when 
I enrolled in the Diploma in International 

Commercial Arbitration offered by the 
Australia branch. Through this Diploma 

programme, I discovered my great interest in 
International Arbitration and at the same time 
built a solid foundation of basic knowledge in 
this field. Since then, being a CIArb member 
has afforded me the opportunity to actively 

participate in CIArb’s courses and events. This 
in turn has allowed me to foster friendships 

and establish close networks with arbitration 
practitioners from other jurisdictions.
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5. Expenditure (continued)

Allocation of costs:

Staff costs are allocated to activities based on the actual cost, including on-costs, of the staff 
working in each activity. Accommodation costs and Depreciation are allocated on the basis 
of the area occupied by each activity and Miscellaneous costs on the basis of the numbers of 
staff employed in each activity. Support costs are allocated on a basis which reflects the use 
made by the activity of each support cost centre.

6. Audit Fees
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7. Staff Costs

Included within the above is £254,644 (2019: £194,883) of costs including employer’s 
national insurance in respect of key management personnel and £8,000 (2019: £52,011) in 
termination benefits. The Director General is the only member of key management personnel.

The average number of employees by category during the year was:
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Pension payments in respect of these eleven employees (2019: eleven) in 2020 amounted to 
£92,064 (2019: £78,224).

8. Payments to Trustees

Members of the Board of Trustees receive no remuneration for their work as Trustees or 
for other work they may carry out for CIArb. Trustees’ expenses reimbursed during the year 
under review are as follows:

7. Staff Costs (continued)

The number of employees whose emoluments fell into the following bands in excess of 
£60,000 was:
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9. (a) Tangible Fixed Assets
Group and Parent undertaking

CIArb acquired the freehold of 12 Bloomsbury Square on 30 January 2001 at a net cost of 
£4,248,126. It acquired the freehold of 14 Bloomsbury Square on 23 September 2011 at a 
net cost of £1,733,355. Depreciation of £nil is charged on listed Freehold Buildings as there is 
estimated to be no material difference between cost and residual value.

Included above are assets purchased under hire purchase arrangements with a net book value 
of £nil (2019: £nil). Depreciation of £nil (2019: £16,097) was charged on these assets during 
the year.
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9. (b) Intangible Fixed Assets
Group and Parent undertaking
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10. Fixed Asset Investments
(a) Managed funds - Group and Parent Undertaking

(b) Subsidiary Undertakings – Parent undertaking

CIArb had thirteen 100% owned subsidiary companies at 31 December 2020 (2019: 
thirteen). This includes four subsidiaries incorporated in England and Wales and nine (2019: 
nine) incorporated international branches. Details of these branches are included in note 20.

The four UK subsidiaries are:

Name		

Arbitration Services Limited

The City Disputes Panel Limited

12 Bloomsbury Square Limited

Independent Dispute Resolution 
Services Limited	

Co. Number	

01288642	

07121217	

07057143	

05945475 	

Principal activity	

Collecting sponsorship income for CIArb events

Dormant

Provision of meeting rooms for hire

Dormant
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10. Fixed Asset Investments (continued)
(b) Subsidiary Undertakings – Parent undertaking (continued)

The nine international subsidiaries are:

Name	 Co. Number	

118131016

1018216-8

208/2014

1207883-A

5508705

5036735

00451

Relationship		

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

Assets and monies held by the branch remain 
under beneficial ownership of CIArb under branch 
by-laws

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

To operate in the Qatar Financial Centre (QFC) 
it was necessary to establish a limited liability 
vehicle (the entity governed by the Articles of 
Association). CIArb (the Royal Charter body) is 
the sole member of this company.

For the rest of Qatar, the Branch is governed by 
the Branch Rules which are an approved variation 
of the Branch Model Rules.

CIArb is the Special Member with sole voting 
rights to amend the constitution or wind up the 
branch.

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(Australia) Limited

Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
Bahamas Branch

Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(Canada Branch) Incorporated

Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(Caribbean Branch) Incorporated

International Group of Arbitrators 
Berhad

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(New York Branch), Inc.

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(North America Branch), Inc.

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(Qatar & QFC LLC), Inc.

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
(Singapore) Limited 

201001118N
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10. Fixed Asset Investments (continued)
(b) Subsidiary Undertakings – Parent undertaking (continued)

*Arbitration Services Limited declared gift aid of £nil (2019: £1,819) and 12 Bloomsbury 
Square Limited declared gift aid of £16,741 (2019: £79,314) to CIArb during the year.

Financial information related to the international subsidiaries is disclosed in note 20(c).
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Vanina Sucharitkul FCIArb
International Arbitrator, 
Attorney-at-Law and  
Senior Lecturer in Paris 
and Thailand

Being a member of the Chartered Institute 
of Arbitrators East Asia Branch and a Committee  
Member of Thailand Branch have been most rewarding. 
I have met a number of colleagues and mentors who  
encouraged me professionally to become a fellow which 
helped with getting on panels of arbitrators. The network I 
have created throughout various branches is invaluable and I 
appreciate the informal mentorship as my career as arbitrator 
progresses. I feel humbled and honored to have just been 
elected as the first female Chair of the Thailand Branch 
and look forward to expanding the branch and  
collaborating within the region.  
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(c) Investment in Joint Venture – Group

In 2012, the Irish Branch of CIArb invested in a 50:50 joint venture with the Bar Council of 
Ireland, the Dublin Dispute Resolution Centre Ltd (“DDRC”). The purpose of the centre was 
to promote and provide dispute resolution services in Ireland. Dublin Dispute Resolution 
Centre Ltd had an authorised share capital of €1,000 divided into 1,000 ordinary shares of 
€1.00 each. The Irish Branch and Law Library Properties Ltd (the Irish Bar Council) owned 
500 shares each. This investment was written down to £nil in 2014 by CIArb and disposed of 
on 31 July 2015. As part of the sale in 2015 CIArb were repaid €33,420 in part settlement of 
outstanding loan balances, with provision for further repayments should DDRC reach certain 
turnover targets within six years following the disposal date. No such contingent amounts are 
included in these financial statements.

(d) Investment in Associated Undertaking
Group and Parent Undertaking

CIArb together with Solicitors Family Law Association and Family Law Bar Association has set 
up a not for profit company, Institute of Family Law Arbitrators Limited (IFLA). The company 
is limited by guarantee and all three parties are equal members in the company. The purpose 
of IFLA is to promote the use of family arbitration as an alternative method of dispute 
resolution in family proceedings in England and Wales. IFLA is currently dormant and CIArb 
has made no investment in it during the year (2019: £nil).

11. Stocks
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12. Debtors

13. Liabilities: Amounts falling due within one year
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Membership income related to 2021 subscriptions received in 2020 and Education and 
Training income related to courses taking place in 2021 received in 2020 has been deferred. 
Advances of subscriptions received at the time of application for membership but prior to 
admittance are recorded as deferred income at the year end and recognised as income in the 
period when the applicant is admitted as a member.

The amount noted above includes Held Funds which at 31 December 2020 stand at £75,101. 

14. Liabilities: Amounts falling due after one year
Group and Parent Undertaking

Bank loans include two loans taken out in 2001 which were in connection with the purchase 
of 12 Bloomsbury Square, a 2013 loan to cover lease exit fees and two loans taken out in 
2014 which were in connection with the purchase of 14 Bloomsbury Square. The loans are 
secured on the full value of the properties. The loans are basic financial liabilities and are set 
out in the table below.



CIArb Annual Report 202075

Notes for the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

15. Group Funds Summary

Reconciliation of unrealised gains on investment assets included above:
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16. Parent Funds Summary

Reconciliation of unrealised gains on investment assets included above:
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17. Fund movements
Group
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17. Fund movements (continued)
Parent Undertaking

Members of and donors to the Kenyan branch have been contributing to a development fund 
to acquire accommodation for branch activities. The equivalent of approximately £178,000 
(2019: approximately £183,000) is ring-fenced for this purpose and is therefore shown as 
restricted funds in the accounts. Headquarters above relates to the UK Head Office and the 
UK subsidiaries as per note 10b. Branches includes the international subsidiaries.
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18. Reconciliation of movement in net debt
Group
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18. Reconciliation of movement in net debt (continued)
Company
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Damithri Welikala MCIArb  
Attorney-at-law and
Legal Counsel of the ICLP 
Arbitration Centre 
in Sri Lanka

The recognition amongst my peers and the global  
network that it brings with membership has benefited  
me immensely. Also, the vast up-to-date knowledge base, 
a platform for discussion with like-minded members, and 
the training tools that are made available have greatly 
influenced me to be a better ADR professional.
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19. Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

As of 31 December 2020, CIArb had capital commitments of £338,773 for assets (2019: 
£73,000), comprising £335,751 in relation to a property purchase (2019: £0) and £3,022 in 
relation to laptop purchases (2019: £0).

There is a cross guarantee in favour of HM Revenue and Customs in respect of CIArb’s 
membership of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators VAT group.

20. Branch Results
(a) England and Wales branches
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20. Branch Results (continued)
(b) Scotland and international branches (continued)

*The financial statements for Bahrain, Lebanon, South Africa and Zimbabwe had not been 
received in time to be included in the aggregated Statement of Financial Activities or Cash 
flow Statement for CIArb. These are not considered material to the final position on 
aggregation and consolidation. Their net assets as last reported are included as appropriate in 
the Consolidated and Parent Undertaking balance sheet. The results of Bahrain, Lebanon and 
Zimbabwe were not included in last year’s accounts.

**Sri Lanka branch opened in late 2019 and all financial transactions up to the end of 2020 
were made through CIArb HQ.
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20. Branch Results (continued)
(c) International subsidiaries (see note 10b)

Grants from central funds are not included in the amounts shown as income in the above 
table but are included in income in note 17. Branch Income and Expenditure above excludes 
any translation gains or losses.
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20. Branch Results (continued)
(c) International subsidiaries (continued)

Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (India) (“CIArb India”) was incorporated in India in 2009 
and had been included since 2010 within the consolidated results along with other branches. 
The adoption of Charities SORP (FRS 102) clarified how incorporated branch entities are 
accounted for and disclosed within financial statements. A review of the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association of CIArb (India) concluded that there are no conclusive provisions 
constituting control by CIArb. The inclusion in prior years was on the basis that CIArb India 
had acted at all times as if it were a branch, had submitted branch plans and financial results 
for consolidation in accordance with CIArb instructions, had deployed funding in accordance 
with the wishes of CIArb Trustees, and its results and net assets were not material to the 
consolidated financial statements. In 2019, in order to maintain consistency with treatment 
of other branch entities the Trustees have elected to disaggregate CIArb India from the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Branch Assets/(Liabilities):

Branch assets and liabilities have been aggregated, or consolidated, within the main balance 
sheet headings.
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20. Branch Results (continued)
(d) Analysis of branch income and expenditure by category
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20. Branch Results (continued)
(d) Analysis of branch income and expenditure by category (continued)

The above figures for England and Wales do not include grants from central funds made 
during the year. Figures for Scotland and International Branches and subsidiaries do not 
include the effect of net translation gains.
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21. Finance Leases
 
CIArb has entered into a finance lease contract for the hire purchase of office equipment. At 
31 December CIArb was committed to total future minimum payments as follows:

This liability is secured on the related assets disclosed in note 9(a).

22. Pension Obligations

CIArb and its subsidiary companies make contributions to employee defined contribution 
pension schemes. Contributions in the year amounted to £203,791 (2019: £178,560). At the 
year-end there were no prepaid contributions (2019: £nil). However outstanding pension 
contributions, included within other creditors, were £nil (2019: £22,783). The assets of the 
schemes are invested and managed independently of the finances of CIArb.

23. Indemnity Insurance

CIArb paid a premium during the year of £9,500 (2019: £9,500) under a professional 
indemnity and trustee indemnity insurance policy to protect CIArb and its Trustees against 
loss arising from the neglect or default of its Trustees, agents or employees, arising in the 
course of CIArb’s business.
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24. Related party transactions

Related party transactions with the subsidiaries set out in note 10(b) are as follows:

(a) 12 Bloomsbury Square Limited (“12BSL”)

Under an operating agreement signed on 21 December 2009, 12BSL has a licence to use 
the property of 12 Bloomsbury Square to carry out a room hire business. CIArb recharged 
12BSL £361,238 (2019: £447,033) of costs under this agreement during the year. In addition, 
CIArb makes use of meeting rooms at the property from time to time. 12BSL charged CIArb 
£50,931 (2019: £108,371) for these rooms during the year.

Gift Aid distributions of £16,741 (2019: £79,314) were paid by 12BSL to CIArb.

At the end of the year, the balance owing to CIArb was £352,836 (2019: owing from CIArb 
£3,292).

(b) Arbitration Services Limited (“ASL”)

Gift Aid distributions of £nil (2019: £1,819) were paid by ASL to CIArb. At the year end, the 
balance owing to CIArb was £9,937 (2019: £4,009).

(c) The City Disputes Panel Limited (“CDP”)

At the year end, the balance owing to CIArb was £95,300 (2019: £95,300), of which £95,300 
(2019: £95,300) cumulative has been provided for in CIArb’s books.

(d) Independent Dispute Resolution Services Limited (“IDRS”)

At the year end, the balance owing from CIArb was £1,000 (2019: £1,000).

(e) International subsidiaries

CIArb collects branch subscriptions on behalf of these subsidiaries during the year and pays 
this income to the branches in two annual instalments. In addition, where branches carry 
out training courses, CIArb charges the branches for training materials as well as for marking, 
moderation and assessment fees. Relevant information is set out in the tables below.
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Notes for the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

24. Related party transactions (continued)
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